I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in denying Z.E.'smotion to suppress.

2. Error is assigned to "The Undisputed Facts" portion of the
Findings and Conclusions on admissibility of evidence CrR
3.6 as follows:

Page 2, lines 7 -9: "At 1646 hours on 2 October 2011

Officers ROSE and CLARK were advised by 911 dispatch
that a 911 call had been received from an individual who

was identified as Arthur REED."

Page 2, lines 12 -16: "ROSE and CLARK testified that the
CAD provided the following information from REED:
Someone was in the alley between Madison and Gunnison,
on the East side of Snake Lake. The subject was a black
male with no shirt wearing black pants, creeping around
like he was being chased. The subject was armed with a
gun that looked like a 9MM."

3. Error is assigned to the "Findings as to Disputed Facts"
portion of the Findings and Conclusions on admissibility of
evidence CrR 3.6 as follows:

Page 14, lines 3 -13: Based on the circumstances known to
the officers at the time of the contact with the vehicle in

which the respondent was riding, the officers reasonably
believed one or more occupant of the suspect vehicle was
related to a possible assault with a deadly weapon and /or
unlawful possession of a firearm, both of which are felony
crimes. They further reasonably believed that one or more
of the car's occupants were armed or dangerous. The

credible facts support the actions of the officers. While

officers were not certain the occupants were armed or
related to the earlier reports regarding an individual with a
gun, a reasonably prudent person with the information
available to the officers at the time of the contact would

believe that one or more of the suspect's occupants [sic]
were related to the 911 reports and were armed and



dangerous. This created a significant officer safety risk and
a risk others [sic].

4. Error is assigned to Findings of Fact and Conclusions of
Law with regards to Z.E.'sbench trial as follows:

Finding of Fact VI, page 3 lines 7 -9: "At 1646 hours on 2
October 2011 Officers ROSE and CLARK were advised by
911 dispatch that a 911 call had been received from an
individual who was identified as Arthur REED."

Finding of Fact VI, page 3 lines 12 -16: " "ROSE and

CLARK testified that the CAD provided the following
information from REED: Someone was in the alley
between Madison and Gunnison, on the East side of Snake
Lake. The subject was a black male with no shirt wearing
black pants, creeping around like he was being chased.
The subject was armed with a gun that looked like a
9MM."

II. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Z.E.'s
motion to suppress where Z.E. was seized without probable
cause? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, and 4)

2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Z.E.'s
motion to suppress where the facts known to the officers at
the time they seized Z.E.'s vehicle were insufficient to
support a well founded suspicion, based on objective facts,
that the vehicle or occupants were connected to potential or
actual criminal activity? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 2,
3, and 4)

3. Do the facts introduced at trial support the challenged
findings of the trial court? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1,
2, 3, and 4)

4. Are the findings which are supported by the record
sufficient to support the trial court's conclusions of law?
Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, and 4)
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III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

On the afternoon of October 10, 2011, Tacoma police officers

Donald Rose and Kristopher Clark were working together and were

dispatched to the area of Oakland Park in response to a 911 call reporting

that an individual was running through the park with a gun. RP 13, 22 -27,

29, 87 -91. When the call was broadcast to the officers, a "priority tone"

preceded the call, indicating that a weapon was involved. RP 26 -28. The

initial 911 caller indicated that the person with the gun appeared to be a

shirtless 18 or 19 year old black male who was five feet and ten inches

tall, 145 pounds, with short dark hair, almost bald, who was seen holding

a gun at his side, ducking in and out of houses and cars, and at one point

was seen to have the gun in a "ready position" but no shots were heard.

RP 31 -33, 58, 92 -93. When officers Rose and Clark arrived in the area of

Oakland Park they immediately looked for the man who was the subject of

the 911 call, but did not find anyone matching his description. RP 33, 95.

While officers Rose and Clarke were en route to Oakland Park,

another 911 call was placed in which the caller gave a description of an

individual the caller claimed had given the gun to the previously reported

shirtless black man. RP 33 -34, 94 -95. The caller described the person

who handed the gun to the shirtless man as a black female, 17, medium
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height, slim, black jacket, blue jeans, black with blue trimmed shoes. RP

34 -35, 61, 94 -95. This information was broadcast to the officers via the

CAD system. RP 33 -34, 61, 94 -95.

As the officers approached Oakland Park, they saw two females,

one of whom they felt matched the description of the woman described as

giving the gun to the shirtless man, except for the fact that the woman who

matched the description was not wearing a black jacket but the other

woman was. RP 33 -35. The officers did not contact the females because

the priority at that time was locating the individual who had the gun. RP

35.

While the officers were en route to Oakland Park, the 911 dispatch

center received a call where the caller indicated that the man with the gun

had gotten into a white car with eight other people. RP 38, 59 -60. Officer

Rose did not know if this was the same caller as the previous 911 calls or

was a second or third caller. RP 38, 68. 911 dispatch later updated the

CAD and indicated that the white car was actually a gray two door

compact car that was seen heading towards Center and Union, an

intersection a few blocks from Oakland Park. RP 40, 61 -62. Dispatch

also updated the CAD to indicate that the person seen with the gun had

gotten into the gray vehicle. RP 40.

4-



Officer Rose knew nothing about the individual or individuals who

called 911 other than the fact that they had called 911. RP 62 -63. Officer

Rose had no information indicating the basis of the caller's or callers'

knowledge or the reliability of the caller or callers. RP 63. Officer Rose

did not know if the same caller revised the description of the vehicle from

white to grey or if the information was revised based on information from

a different caller. RP 62. No police investigation corroborated the initial

report of a man with a gun at Oakland Park. RP 63.

At some apartments adjacent to the park, officers Rose and Clark

contacted an individual who claimed that there had been a large scale fight

in the park with multiple people running around and that the people had

left in four different vehicles. RP 41, 96. The officers did not get the

name or contact information of this person. RP 42. Officer Rose had no

knowledge about this person's reliability, had no way of knowing the

whether the person was telling the truth or not, and did not use any of the

tactics he has been trained in to test the person's credibility. RP 63 -65.

This person was unable to describe any individuals or any vehicles

associated with the purported fight she had witnessed and could not

provide the officers with any specific information. RP 65 -66.

After failing to locate the person with the gun near Oakland Park,

the officers went towards the intersection of Center and Union. RP 41 -42.

s -



While travelling towards the intersection of Center and Union, the officers

observed the same females they had seen earlier, presumably walking

away from the park. RP 42. The women were getting into a car in a

parking lot on the southwest corner of the intersection of Union and

Center streets. RP 43. The women were getting into a parked four door

Honda compact sedan that Officer Rose believed was gray. RP 43, 45.

Officer Rose observed two males in the front of the Honda. RP 43 -44.

Police think of Oakland Park as a high crime area and think that

gangs have fights and gatherings near the park. RP 25 -26, 91 -92. Officer

Rose's first concern upon being dispatched to Oakland Park is that it is a

high crime area and the call may be gang related. RP 26. When officer

Rose is dispatched to something gang related he expects to find weapons.

RP 26. Officer Rose believes gang members have a higher propensity to

assault police officers or each other. RP 26.

The officers' focus was the female who matched the description

given by the 911 caller. RP 44. Officer Rose believed the one female was

the one who handed the shirtless male the gun based entirely on the 911

call. RP 70 -71. When officer Rose observed the females getting into the

Honda, he was concerned that the female was "very possibly" involved in

the "gang activity" and "she may or may not have possessed another

weapon." RP 44.
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Despite not knowing if the men in the Honda had been involved

with the activities reported in the 911 calls, officer Rose was concerned

that the two men in the Honda "may or may not have been involved in this

fight" and that the men "may have left separately and then gotten back

together" at the parking lot where the women were entering the Honda.

RP 44. Despite not knowing if the men had been involved in the incidents

reported by the 911 callers, the officers believed that "any number of the

occupants in the vehicle could [have] be[en] armed." RP 44 -45. The

officers had this belief despite having no information on whether or not

the woman or anyone else in the Honda had another weapon or even had

been at the scene of the purported fight in Oakland Park. RP 67, 119.

The officers decided to stop the Honda because it roughly fit the

description of the vehicle the shirtless man had reportedly gotten into but

mainly because "the female who was possibly involved was getting into

it." RP 66. Officer Clark believed he was investigating unlawful

possession of a firearm and possibly an assault with a deadly weapon. RP

118. However, when officer Rose approached the vehicle he knew he did

not have probable cause to arrest anyone in the vehicle. RP 72.

Officers Rose and Clark called for backup and conducted a felony

stop on the Honda. RP 45. Officer Rose and Clark parked their patrol

vehicle in a parking lot south of the parking lot where the Honda was



parked and approached the Honda on foot with their handguns out and

ready to be used quickly. RP 45 -46. Officers Rose and Clark ordered

everyone in the Honda to put their hands up, which the occupants of the

Honda did. RP 46. Once more officers arrived, the officers ordered the

occupants of the Honda to exit the Honda one at a time. RP 46.

Z.E. was the last person ordered out of the Honda. RP 48. Z.E.

complied with officer Rose's commends to walk backwards towards

officer Rose but did not get onto his knees as quickly as office Rose liked

and looked over his shoulder. RP 49 -50. In response, officer Rose

holstered his weapon, grabbed Z.E.'s right arm, and another officer tased

Z.E. RP 51 -55, 179.

After Z.E. had been tased and handcuffed, he was arrested for

obstructing the officers. RP 55. Z.E. was searched incident to his arrest

and officers located a small bag of marijuana and a pill crusher on his

person. RP 56, 182, 210 -211.

The CAD log indicated that one of the individuals who had called

911 had identified himself as Arthur Reed and another caller had

identified herself as Dawn. RP 75 -76. However, Officer Rose did not

know how many callers there were or who the callers were. RP 78 -79.

B. Procedural Background
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On October 13, 2011, Z.E. was charged with unlawful possession

of a controlled substance - amphetamine, obstructing a law enforcement

officer, and unlawful possession of a controlled substance- forty grams or

less of marijuana. CP 1 -2.

On January 31, 2012, Z.E. filed a motion to suppress all evidence

obtained pursuant to the seizure of his vehicle. CP 9 -20. On February 3,

2012, Z.E. filed another motion to suppress all evidence obtained pursuant

to the seizure of his vehicle. CP 21 -52. In these motions to suppress, Z.E.

challenged the lawfulness of the seizure of his vehicle on several grounds:

1) the police lacked knowledge of sufficient facts to support a well-

founded suspicion that Z.E. or any occupants of his vehicle were

connected to potential or actual criminal activity; (2) the seizure of Z.E.

exceeded the permissible scope of a Terry stop; and (3) Z.E. was arrested

without probable cause, rendering all evidence discovered pursuant to his

arrest inadmissible. CP 9 -52.

On February 10, 2012, the State filed a response to Z.E.'s motion

to suppress. CP 53 -76.

On February 14, 2012, a combination 3.6 hearing and bench trial

began. RP 8.

On February 22, 2012, the State stipulated that the State crime lab

analyzed the pill crusher and could not determine the nature of the
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substance on it and indicated that the State would not be proceeding on the

felony count of drug possession based on the pill cutter. RP 211.

On February 27, 2012, argument on the motion to suppress was

heard after the close of testimony. RP 490 -529.

On March 1, 2012, the court ruled on Z.E.'s suppression motion.

RP 533 -539. The trial court denied the motion to suppress. RP 539; CP

M. FIB 1

On March 1, 2012, Z.E. filed a memorandum re: mens rea and

insufficiency of mens rea. CP 79 -82.

Also on March 1, 2012, the State amended the charges against Z.E.

to drop the unlawful possession of amphetamine charge. CP 86 -87.

On April 10, 2012, findings of fact and conclusions of law were

entered on Z.E.'s motion to suppress. CP 88 -102. Also on April 10,

2012, findings of fact and conclusions of law on Z.E.'s bench trial were

entered. CP 103 -119.

The trial court found Z.E. not guilty of the crime of obstructing a

law enforcement officer, but guilty of the crime of unlawful possession of

a controlled substance - marijuana. RP 561, 563.

Notice of appeal was timely filed on April 10, 2012. CP 134.

IV. ARGUMENT



1. The trial court erred in denying Z.E.'s motion to
suppress.

a. Standard ofReview.

A trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress evidence is reviewed

to determine (1) whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's

factual findings, and (2) whether the factual findings support the trial

court's conclusions of law. State v. Garvin, 166 Wn.2d 242, 249, 207 P.3d

1266 (2009). "Evidence is substantial when it is enough t̀o persuade a

fair- minded person of the truth of the stated premise."' Garvin, 166 Wn.2d

at 249, 207 P.3d 1266 (quoting State v. Reid, 98 Wn.App. 152, 156, 988

P.2d 1038 (1999)). Unchallenged findings of fact are considered verities

on appeal. State v. Valdez, 167 Wn.2d 761, 767, 224 P.3d 751 (2009)

citing State v. Gaines, 154 Wn.2d 711, 716, 116 P.3d 993 (2005)). The

trial court's conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. Garvin, 166 Wn.2d

at 249, 207 P.3d 1266.

b. The police lacked knowledge of sufficient facts to
support a well founded suspicion that Z.E. or any
occupants of the vehicle in which Z.E. was a
passenger were connected to potential or actual
criminal activity.

The Fourth Amendment to the US Constitution provides,
The right of the people to be secure in their persons,
houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches
and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall
issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or
affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be
searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

M



Article 1, § 7 of the Washington Constitution provides "No person

shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without

authority of law." Warrantless seizures are presumed unconstitutional.

Const. art. I, § 7; State v. Gaddy, 152 Wn.2d 64, 70, 93 P.3d 872 (2004).

The warrant requirement is especially important under article I, section 7,

of the Washington Constitution as it is the warrant which provides the

authority of law' referenced therein." State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d

343, 350, 979 P.2d 833 (1999) (emphasis added) (citing City ofSeattle v.

Mesiani, 110 Wn.2d 454, 457, 755 P.2d 775 (1988)).

An investigatory detention is a seizure. State v. Rankin, 151

Wn.2d 689, 695, 92 P.3d 202 (2004). The State bears the burden of

proving that a warrantless stop or seizure falls into one of the few

jealously and carefully drawn' exceptions to the warrant requirement.

State v. Williams, 102 Wn.2d 733, 736, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984) (quoting

State v. Houser, 95 Wn.2d 143, 149, 622 P.2d 1218 (1980)).

The Fourth Amendment applies to all seizures of the
person, including seizures that involve only a brief
detention short of traditional arrest. Whenever a police
officer accosts an individual and restrains his freedom to

walk away, he has ` seized' that person ... and the Fourth
Amendment requires that the seizure be "reasonable."

State v. Larson, 93 Wn.2d 638, 641, 611 P.2d 771 ( 1980) (internal

citations omitted).

Probable cause [ to arrest] exists where the facts and
circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge and



of which the officer has reasonably trustworthy information
are sufficient to warrant a person of reasonable caution in a
belief that an offense has been committed ... A bare

suspicion of criminal activity, however, will not give an
officer probable cause to arrest.

State v. Terrovona, 105 Wn.2d 632, 643, 716 P.2d 295 ( 1986), cent.

denied, 499 U.S. 979, 111 S.Ct. 1631, 113 L.Ed.2d 726 (1991).

An exception exists where an officer has a " well- founded

suspicion" an individual is engaging in criminal activity. State v. Glover,

116 Wn.2d 509, 513, 806 P.2d 760 (1991) (quoting State v. White, 97

Wn.2d 92, 105, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982)). When police officers have a

well- founded suspicion not amounting to probable cause" to arrest, they

may nonetheless stop a suspected person, identify themselves, and ask that

person for identification and an explanation of his or her activities.

Glover, 116 Wn.2d at 513, 806 P.2d 760. The officer must be able to

point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational

inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion."' Glover,

116 Wn.2d at 514 (quoting Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868,

20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968)). Such facts are "judged against an objective

standard: would the facts available to the officer at the moment of the

seizure or the search `warrant a [ person] of reasonable caution in the

belief' that the action taken was appropriate ?" State v. Almanza- Guzman,
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94 Wn.App. 563, 566, 972 P.2d 468 (1999) (quoting State v. Barber, 118

Wn.2d 335, 343, 823 P.2d 1068 (1992)).

The officer must have more than innocuous facts or a mere hunch.

State v. Martinez, 135 Wn.App. 174, 180, 143 P.3d 855 (2006); State v.

O'Cain, 108 Wn.App. 542, 549, 31 P.3d 733 (2001). The reasonableness

of an officer's suspicion is determined from " the totality of the

circumstances known by the officer at the inception of the stop." State v.

Carlson, 130 Wn.App. 589, 593, 123 P.3d 891 (2005), review denied, 157

Wn.2d 1020 (2006).

To support an investigative detention, the circumstances must

show there is a substantial possibility that criminal conduct has occurred

or is about to occur. State v. Mendez, 137 Wn.2d 208, 223, 970 P.2d 722

1999), abrogated on other grounds Brendlin v. California, 551 U.S. 249,

127 S.Ct. 2400, 168 L.Ed.2d 132 (2007). The circumstances must be

more consistent with criminal conduct than with innocent behavior.

State v. Pressley, 64 Wn.App. 591, 596, 825 P.2d 749 (1992).

A reviewing court decides whether reasonable suspicion existed

based on an objective view of the known facts. State v. Mitchell, 80

Wn.App. 143, 147, 906 P.2d 1013 (1995), review denied 129 Wn.2d 1019,

919 P.2d 600 ( 1996). The reviewing court does not base its

14-



determination of reasonable suspicion upon the officer's subjective

belief. Mitchell, 80 Wn.App. at 147, 906 P.2d 1013.

If the initial stop was unlawful, the subsequent search and fruits of

that search are inadmissible as fruits of the poisonous tree. State v.

Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 4, 726 P.2d 445 (1986), citing Wong Sun v. United

States, 371 U.S. 471, 9 L.Ed.2d 44183 S.Ct. 407 (1963).

Here, the only facts known to officer Rose and Clark at the time

the police stopped Z.E.'s vehicle and ordered the occupants out at

gunpoint was that there had been reports of a shirtless black man carrying

what appeared to be a 9mm handgun and that individuals were reporting

that there had recently been a fight in the area and multiple shirtless

participants had left the area in four different vehicles, but that the person

with the gun had gotten into a white car containing eight other people. RP

22 -27, 29, 31 -35, 38, 40, 58 -63, 68, 87 -95.

Contrary to the trial court's "Undisputed Facts" in relation to

Z.E.'s motion to suppress and the findings of fact in relation to the bench

trial, officer's Rose and Clark did not know that one of the individuals

who had called 911 and provided information had been identified as

Arthur Reed. In fact, both officer Rose and Officer Clark testified that at

the time of the seizure of Z.E.'s vehicle and its occupants, the officers

knew nothing about the identity, reliability, or basis of knowledge of the



caller providing information to 911 dispatch, or even if there was more

than one caller. RP 62 -63. Further, no police investigation corroborated

the initial report of a man with a gun at Oakland Park. RP 63.

Officers Rose and Clark did speak with a person outside of

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