COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

Z.U.E., APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Kitty-Ann van Doorninck

No. 11-8-01174-4

Brief of Respondent

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By

Brian Wasankari Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 28945

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

2. Facts

On October 2, 2011, Tacoma Police Officers Donald Rose and Kristopher Clark were on patrol in a single vehicle. RP 22-23. Officer Rose testified that, when responding to a call as a two-officer unit, one officer drives while the other monitors the vehicle's computer for updated information regarding the call from dispatch. RP 17-24.

At 4:52 that afternoon, Officers Rose and Clark were dispatched to the area of Oakland Park at 3114 South Madison Street in Tacoma, Washington, to investigate a report of a shirtless man running through the park with a gun. RP 24-31, 88-91. Officer Williams also responded to that call. RP 168, 196.

Officers Rose, Clark, and Williams testified that the area of Oakland Park is a high crime area and that gang activity, including fights and gatherings, is common in the park. RP 25-26, 91, 124, 130-32, 168-69, 184. Gang members tend to be armed with weapons. RP 26, 92. Officer Rose testified that he was concerned that the man with the gun was involved in gang activity. RP 41. Local business owner Kimberly Grassi also testified that it was very normal to have a lot of police activity in the area, and that she had actually had criminals come over a gate located in front of her store, and cars crash into her store. RP 248, 264, 276.

The 911 caller described the man with the gun as being a black man, 18 to 19 years of age, five foot ten, 145 pounds, with very short dark hair. RP 32-33, 93-93, 95. The 911 caller reported that this man was "hunkering down" and "maybe trying to stay out of sight" as he went through the park. RP 31. The man was reportedly holding the gun by his side in a "ready position," and ducking in and out of houses and cars. RP 33. Officer Rose described a ready position as carrying a firearm in a position in which it could be fired. RP 33.

As officers were responding to the scene, they received additional information that the man carrying the gun was associated with "some subjects in a white car." RP 38. *See* RP 97.

A different 911 caller indicated that a girl had handed the gun to the man who was now carrying it through the park. RP 34, 114-15. That girl was described as a black 17-year-old, who was of medium height, slim, and wearing a black jacket, blue jeans, and shoes that were black with blue trim. RP 34-35, 95, 98, 114-15. Officers Rose and Clark arrived in the area at approximately 4:56 p.m., and saw two females, one of whom "matched that description to a tee, except that her friend was wearing the black jacket." RP 35, 61, 71, 74, 94, 114-16, 225-26. Officer Rose testified that the girl's age, race, build, attire, and temporal and geographic proximity to the scene all matched the description with which he had been provided. RP 71. The only difference in appearance was the black jacket, and officers "believed that it was possible that she handed off the black jacket [to her friend] in an attempt to alter her appearance." RP 116, 141-43, 226.

However, the officers did not see the man with the gun, RP 33, and considering this as their priority objective, continued to look for him. RP 35, 39-40. As officers continued to search for him, they received updated information that he was associated with a gray car, not a white car. RP 40, 61-62, 68, 97, 140. That vehicle was further described as a two-door compact car. RP 40. At 4:57 p.m., the 911 caller indicated that the man with the gun had gotten into this car, and that the car was now headed in towards Center on Union, which is a few blocks from Oakland Park. RP 40, 81.

Officers Rose and Clark then drove towards this intersection. RP 41. As they were en route, they contacted a witness at an apartment complex adjacent to the park. RP 41, 96. That witness told the officers that there was "a large scale fight in the park, with multiple subjects running around," and that these people then left in four different vehicles. RP 41-42, 96. *See* RP 287.

The officers then continued to the intersection of Center and Union, where, at about 5:04 p.m., they again saw the two females, one of whom matched the description of the girl who had given the gun to the man in the park. RP 42, 81, 84, 97-98, 114-16. They were in the parking lot of Grassi's Flowers on the southwest corner of the intersection getting into a gray compact Honda sedan. RP 43, 74, 114-16, 245. The vehicle appeared to be heading away from Oakland Park, and also contained two men in its front seats. RP 43-44. Officers were not able to discern how many occupants the car may have contained, and could not see what the occupants visible to them were wearing. RP 73, 156, 227.

Given the information available to them, officers believed that the girl who matched the description provided by the 911 caller was possibly involved in gang activity and may have possessed a weapon. RP 44, 72. *See* RP 189, 215. Officer Rose indicated that if the girl was actually 17 years of age and in possession of a firearm, she would have committed a felony, RP 75. *See* RP 118-19. Officers were concerned that the two male occupants of the car may have been involved in the fight reported to have just occurred in Oakland Park. RP 44, 72. Moreover, they had information that the man seen running through that park with a gun in a ready position had entered a gray car much like that the two females were then entering.

RP 44. Officers felt they were investigating either an unlawful possession of a firearm by a minor or an assault with a deadly weapon. RP 118-19.

Given such information, the officers called for assistance, approached the vehicle with their weapons drawn, and ordered the occupants of the vehicle to put their hands up. RP 45-46; RP 117-22, 215.

Officer Williams and other officers arrived to assist, and officers began having the occupants get out of the vehicle one at a time. RP 46, 172-74. The driver and then the two girls got out of the car, were placed in handcuffs, and detained. RP 47-48, 173-75.

Officer Rose then ordered the respondent, who was the front-seat passenger, to exit the vehicle, walk backwards to him, and stop, which the respondent did. RP 49-50, 176. Officer Rose asked the respondent to get down on his knees, but the respondent did not comply. RP 50, 176-77. So, Officer Rose again ordered him to go to his knees. RP 50, 176-77. The respondent did not comply the second time either. RP 50, 176-77. Instead, he looked back towards the officer. RP 50, 366-67.

Officer Rose testified that, based on his training and experience, people who intend to either assault an officer or flee will first take what's referred to as a "target glance," by which they look backwards to see where the officer is, so that they can better plan an attack or escape. RP 50-51. Given that the respondent had refused to comply with his commands and appeared to be contemplating an attack or escape, Officer Rose holstered his weapon, grabbed the respondent by his right arm, and escorted him to the ground, where he could be handcuffed more safely. RP 51-52, 177.

As the respondent went to the ground, he brought his left arm into his torso. RP 52. Based on his training and experience, Officer Rose knew that people often have secret weapons in their waistband area, and was concerned that the respondent may be reaching for a firearm. RP 52. So, he ordered the respondent to place his hands behind his back. RP 54. The respondent refused to do so. RP 54. Officer Rose repeated this command several times, but the respondent refused to comply, and kept his left hand tucked between his torso and the ground below. RP 54-55.

Officer Miller, who had responded to assist, then ordered the respondent, "show me your hands," and told him, "stop resisting or you will be tased." RP 179. When the respondent still refused to comply, Officer Miller "deployed his E.C.T.," i.e., Electronic Control Tool or taser, RP 11, and executed a "contact tase" or "drive stun technique," which entails touching the E.C.T. to a person. RP 55, 165, 179-80. This allowed Miller to pull the respondent's left arm out from under him, and officers placed him in handcuffs by about 5:08 p.m. RP 55, 84, 180. Natosha Mackin, who was one of the two girls who got into the respondent's vehicle, testified that the respondent was in handcuffs before officers pushed him to the ground. RP 293.

Kimberly Grassi testified that, during the approximately thirty seconds she watched, she did not see the officers push the respondent at all. RP 266-67.

Gabrial Tucker, who was watching from across the street, testified that she heard the officers tell the respondent to get on the ground, but that she could not recall if the respondent did so. RP 436. Her boss then told her to get back to work. RP 436, 449. So, she went inside and did not look at the scene for "five to ten minutes." RP 436, 449. When she next looked, this time through a window, she saw "cops... on top of the defendant," i.e., respondent, but had not yet handcuffed him. RP 437-39. Tucker testified that the respondent was not handcuffed until after officers applied the taser. RP 446, 448-49.

Curtis Escalante, the respondent's brother, who was twice previously convicted of attempted second degree burglary, RP 319, 326-27, testified that the respondent went to his knees before the officers had any contact with him and that six officers then "jumped" on the respondent. RP 367-68. Escalante, however, did testify that it would have been possible for the respondent to have hidden a firearm in the waistband of the jeans he was wearing that day. RP 396.

- 9 -

The respondent testified that he had not slept for days before the incident, and that when he does not sleep he becomes "confused" and "unstable." RP 453-53. His mother testified that he suffers from Asperger's syndrome, a sight and hearing deficit, and that he is developmentally delayed. RP 483. The respondent further testified that he was confused when the officers told him to get down on his knees, but that he did so before the officer "slammed" him into "the concrete." RP 414-15, 455. The respondent testified that he was then handcuffed and subsequently tased three times, once on his genitals. RP 415-17. The respondent later testified that the closest taser marks were "a couple of inches, about a foot maybe" away from his genitals. RP 466.

The respondent was arrested for obstructing a law enforcement officer, and searched incident to that arrest. RP 55-56, 181. Officers found a small bag of marihuana and a pill crusher in the respondent's jacket pocket. RP 55-56, 181-82. The respondent stipulated that the substance believed by officers to be marihuana was actually determined to be marihuana by the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory. RP 210-11. Officer Williams took custody of those items and booked them into the property room. RP 182.

Officers then had the people who called 911 come to the scene to participate in show-up identifications. RP 68-70. *See* RP 300. One of those callers was Arthur Reed, who provided his telephone number and address to police so that they could pick him up for the show up. RP 75-76.

- 10 -

Another was a woman who identified herself as Dawn and provided her location so that police could contact her. RP 76. Neither caller identified the detained individuals as involved in the fight in the park. RP 68-70. *See* RP 300. Both were "uncertain." RP 126-27. It was not determined if the vehicle in which they were traveling was involved in the incident in Oakland Park. RP 83.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>.

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS BECAUSE OFFICERS HAD A REASONABLE SUSPICION SUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY THEIR INVESTIGATORY STOP OF RESPONDENT AND DID NOT EXCEED THE PERMISSIBLE SCOPE OF THAT STOP.

"When reviewing the denial of a suppression motion, an appellate court determines whether substantial evidence supports the challenged findings of fact and whether the findings support the conclusions of law." *State v. Garvin*, 166 Wn.2d 242, 249, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009) (*citing State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994)). "Evidence is substantial when it is enough 'to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the stated premise." *Id. (quoting State v. Reid*, 98 Wn. App. 152, 156, 988 P.2d 1038 (1999)). This Court "do[es] not review credibility determinations on appeal, leaving them to the fact finder," *State v.* Gibson, 152 Wn. App. 945, 951, 219 P.3d 964 (2009), and

"[u]nchallenged findings of fact are treated as verities on appeal." *State v. Afana*, 169 Wn.2d 169, 176, 233 P.3d 879 (2010). Appellate courts
"review conclusions of law from an order pertaining to the suppression of evidence de novo," *Id.*, *State v. Louthan*, 158 Wn. App. 732, 740, 242
P.3d 954 (2010), *State v. Lee*, 147 Wn. App. 912, 916, 199 P.3d 445
(2008)("[w]hether the trial court derived correct legal conclusions from those facts is a question of law that [appellate courts] review de novo"), and "can uphold the trial court on any valid basis." *Gibson*, 152 Wn. App. at 948, 958.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause."

Article I, section 7 of the Washington State Constitution mandates that "[n]o person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law."

Illegally obtained evidence is not admissible in court. *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 82 S. Ct. 23, 7 L. Ed. 72 (1961); *State v. Afana*, 169 Wn.2d 169, 180, 233 P.3d 879 (2010). "[A] warrantless search is per se unreasonable, unless if falls

within one of the carefully drawn exceptions to the warrant requirement."

State v. Patton, 167 Wn.2d 379, 386, 219 P.3d 651 (2009). Similarly,

"[t]he 'authority of law' requirement of article I, section 7 is satisfied by a

valid warrant, subject to a few jealously guarded exceptions." State v.

Afana, 169 Wn.2d 169, 176-77, 233 P.3d 879 (2010).

"One such exception is that an officer may briefly detain a

vehicle's driver for investigation if the circumstances satisfy the

'reasonable suspicion' standard under Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct.

1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968)." State v. Bliss, 153 Wn. App. 197, 203-04,

222 P.3d 107 (2009).

To justify a *Terry* stop under the state and federal constitutions, there must be some suspicion of a particular crime connected to the particular person, rather than a mere generalized suspicion that the person detained may have been up to no good. *State v. Martinez*, 135 Wn. App. 174, 181-82, 143 P.3d 855 (2006). The officer must have an "articulable suspicion," meaning "a substantial possibility that criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur."

Bliss, 153 Wn. App. at 204 (quoting State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6,

726 P.2d 445 (1986)); State v. Snapp, 174 Wn.2d at 198 ("A reasonable,

articulable suspicion means that there 'is a substantial possibility that

criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur."")

Thus, "[a] valid *Terry* investigative stop is permissible if the officer can 'point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rationale inferences from those facts, reasonably warrants the intrusion." *State v. Snapp*, 174 Wn.2d 177, 197, 275 P.3d 289 (2012).

"[T]he reasonableness of the officer's suspicion is determined by the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the inception of the stop," *State v. Lee*, 147 Wn. App. 912, 917, 199 P.3d 445 (2008)(*quoting State v. Rowe*, 63 Wn. App. 750, 753, 822 P.2d 290 (1991)), and "[t]he officer's reasonable suspicion must be based on objective facts." *State v. Mitchell*, 80 Wn. App. 143, 145, 906 P.2d 1013 (1995).

"[T]he level of articulable suspicion required for a car stop is no greater than required for a pedestrian stop." *State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6. 726 P.2d 445 (1986).

In the present case, Respondent argues that the stop of the vehicle in which he was riding was unlawful because the officers lacked a reasonable suspicion "that [he] or any occupants of the vehicle in which [he] was a passenger were connected to potential or actual criminal activity." Brief of Appellant, p. 11-27. The record shows otherwise.

Specifically, the trial court, in its findings of undisputed facts, found that

[a]t 1646 hours on 2 October 2011 Officers ROSE and CLARK were advised by 911 dispatch that a 911 call had been received from an individual who was identified as Arthur Reed.

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